VI.

1368 Research Park Dr
Beavercreek, Ohio

BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
Regular Meeting - December 10, 2025, 6:00 p.m.
Council Chambers

CALL TO ORDER
ROLL CALL
APPROVAL OF AGENDA

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. November 12, 2025

PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. V-25-5, Mark & Tonja Grothouse, 859 Amy Lynn Drive

ADJOURNMENT



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
REGULAR MEETING, November 12, 2025, 6:00 PM

PRESENT: Ms. Barhorst, Mr. Essman, Mr. Rader, Mr. Roach, Ms. Vest
ABSENT: None
Chairman Essman called the meeting to order followed by roll call.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Ms. Barhorst MOVED approval of the agenda, seconded by Mr. Roach. Motion
PASSED by majority voice vote.

MINUTES
Mr. Rader MOVED approval of the July 9, 2025 minutes, seconded by Ms.
Barhorst. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

PUBLIC HEARING

V-25-3, Ashley & Oswaldo Delacruz

Clerk Gillaugh read the notice of public hearing on an application filed by
Ashley and Oswaldo Delacruz, 2571 Murwood Court, Beavercreek, OH 45431,
requesting a variance from Chapter 158.104(A) of the City of Beavercreek
Zoning Code to construct an accessory structure within the front yard. The
property is located on the northwest side of Murwood Court, three lots north
of the intersection of Ruston Drive and Murwood Court further described as
Book 1, Page 4, Parcel 118 on the Greene County Property Tax Atlas.

Mr. Funk summarized the staff report dated November 5, 2025, which stated
this case was heard in November 2023 to allow a shed in their front yard. He
explained BZA approved the variance request based on the uniqueness of
their lot. Mr. Funk said the variance expired after a year, and now they are
coming back with a new variance for a 200 square foot accessory structure.
He showed the video of the property, and discussed the lot and where an
accessory structure would be permitted. Mr. Funk explained with the terrain
of their property, the topography issues, and the location of the house, they
really didn’t have a location they could locate the accessory structure without
a variance. Mr. Funk discussed the variance criteria, and gave his opinion of
each. Staff recommended approval of the case.

There being no public input, the public hearing is closed.

Ms. Barhorst asked if the accessory structure was visible from the neighboring
houses. Mr. Funk said yes.

Mr. Roach MOVED to approve V-25-3 based on the requirements of Chapter
158.172 (H)(5)(a) being fully satisfied, seconded by Mr. Rader. Motion PASSED
by a roll call vote of 5-0.

V-25-4, Hailey & Andrew Moeggenberg

Clerk Gillaugh read the notice of public hearing on an application filed by
Hailey and Andrew Moeggenberg, 1680 North Laddie Court, Beavercreek, OH
45432, requesting a variance from Chapter 158.105(A) of the City of



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 11/12/25

Beavercreek Zoning Code to allow a 6-foot high fence to remain in the
required front yard along Hanes Road on a double frontage lot in a R-1A
District. The property is located on the west side of Hanes Road, 4 lots north
of the intersection of Hanes Road and Edinburgh Drive further described as
Book 5, Page 4, Parcel 176 on the Greene County Property Tax Atlas.

Mr. Funk summarized the staff report dated November 5, 2025, which stated
the applicant is requesting a 6-foot fence to remain in the required front yard
along Hanes Road on a double frontage lot. He explained the Code allows 4-
foot-high fences in required front yards, and showed the video of the
property. He presented a map of houses on a portion of Hanes Road that have
multiple frontages, and discussed what kind of fences exist on the properties,
if any. He showed the site plan of the lot, and discussed the Zoning Code
change regarding the height of fences in front yards and the fence
requirements on double frontage lots. Mr. Funk displayed an aerial of the lot,
and said with the Code change would be allowed for the property under
discussion. He discussed the variance criteria, and recommended denial of the
case.

Hailey Moeggenburg, applicant, thanked the Board for their time tonight as
they review their application for a variance to allow the six-foot fence to
remain in its current placement. She said when they purchased their home in
2018, they were looking for their forever home. Ms. Moeggenburg explained
they had a privacy fence installed on their property line in August because
their old chain link fence was rusted and the gate was broken presenting a
hazard as it no longer contained their daughter safely in their back yard which
is on the busy thoroughfare of Hanes Road. She said they hired a contractor
to complete the work for them, and the contract stated the contractor would
obtain the necessary permits needed. Ms. Moeggenburg explained through a
neighbor’s complaint they discovered their fence was installed without a
permit and were educated their lot was considered double frontage and had
special rules that applied.

Ms. Moeggenburg stated they were blindsided and shocked. She said they
had no idea they could not replace their chain link fence with a privacy fence
or that the contractor had broken the contract. Ms. Moeggenburg stated they
knew it was not realistic to move the fence 20 feet back because of the
mature trees that would be severely damaged or have to be removed and a
shed that would be in the way as well. She explained if they had to move it,
they would be losing 17% of their back yard that they could no longer enjoy
on a daily basis. Ms. Moeggenburg said one reason they decided to install a
privacy fence was for their growing family’s safety because Hanes Road is a
busy thoroughfare where often times cars are speeding and they would not
have to worry about their three year old daughter climbing out of the yard
and to prevent trespassing on the property. She stated they knew the City
eventually plans to widen Hanes Road and add sidewalks which they are
looking forward to, but that means they would have additional foot traffic
through the easement and they feel a privacy fence is necessary to protect
their belongs and family. Ms. Moeggenburg explained the second reason they
chose a six foot fence is because they want to install a pool in the spring. She
explained with her husband being immunocompromised due to a kidney
transplant he cannot swim in fresh bodies of water or public pools for safety

2



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 11/12/25

concerns. Ms. Moeggenburg said a five foot high fence is required for a pool
to be installed.

She said they understand the purpose of zoning resolutions is to ensure
safety, happiness, and a secure sense of community for all residents of the
City of Beavercreek. Ms. Moeggenburg believed there are unique situations
that deserve considerations to be made to the expectations. She explained
they feel their property located on a busy 35 mph thoroughfare of Hanes
Road is one of those exceptions. Ms. Moeggenburg stated their goal is simply
to create a small sanctuary away from the road they can enjoy life, host
gatherings, and raise their family all without having to worry about the
dangers of Hanes Road. She said as lifetime residents, they are dedicated to
enhancing the family friendly safe atmosphere that drew them to remain in
this community forever.

Ms. Moeggenburg believed there fence no only provides safety and comfort,
but it also adds aesthetic value to their home and the surrounding properties.
She stated they had several neighbors write letters of support of the fence
saying it matches other properties in the Edinburgh Place Subdivision. Ms.
Moeggenburg said they provided to the Board other double frontage
properties on Kemp Road that have the same style privacy fence as theirs so
they know it is aesthetically pleasing in other areas of the City. She requested
they approve the variance so they can continue building the perfect home in
this incredible community that they consider to be their hometown.

In written input, staff received eight letters in support of the variance request.
The Board members were given copies of each letter.

There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.

Mr. Essman referred to the aerial photo Mr. Funk created, and asked if they
could install a six foot fence on the green line (20 feet from property line). Mr.
Funk said yes. Mr. Essman questioned if the Code change was a result of the
Board of Zoning Appeals asking staff to look the fence requirements on
double frontage lots. Mr. Funk stated that was correct.

Ms. Vest asked Mr. Funk to clarify the aerial drawing he created and where a
four foot and six foot fence was permitted. Mr. Funk explained the green
hashed area would permit a six foot fence, but anything closer to the property
line along Hanes Road would only be able to be four foot in height. He said
they could still have close to 100 feet of yard fenced in by a six foot high
fence which would leave plenty of space for a swimming pool and other
recreational things.

Mr. Roach referenced the third criteria and staff’s opinion, and asked Mr. Funk
to explain with this application and neighborhood how anybody was affected
by having a six foot fence in this location. Mr. Funk stated if this property is
the only property that is allowed to have a six foot fence in that location, it
would affect the looks of the neighborhood as a person travels down Hanes
Road. Mr. Roach asked if there are existing fences that are in the same
location. Mr. Funk said yes. Mr. Roach questioned if the fence is in the same
location as the previous one. Mr. Funk confirmed it was. Mr. Roach asked what

3



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 11/12/25

the height of the fence was that was replaced. Mr. Funk said it was an older
chain link fence so he assumed it was around 42 inches in height. Mr. Roach
stated he was trying to understand how staff believed if the fence was two
feet shorter between the shed and the existing new fence location that the
neighborhood would be changed somehow. He said he had a stack of input
from surrounding neighbors that disagreed with staff.

Mr. Roach questioned if there was a rear yard on a double frontage lot. Mr.
Funk said technically it is determined they have two side yards and two front
yards, so there is not back yard. Mr. Roach asked where else would he find
double frontage lots that abut a busy thoroughfare in the City. Mr. Funk
explained another location would be on Kemp Road where the homes front
Fincastle Drive. Mr. Roach asked if the variance was a result of a complaint.
Mr. Funk stated that was correct. Mr. Roach questioned if there were any
other issues other than the location and height. Mr. Funk said it was the
location, the height, and that is was constructed without a permit. Mr. Roach
guestioned if staff concluded that it was legitimate that the applicant had
hired a contractor that was responsible for the permit. Mr. Funk said they had
no reason to doubt the contractor was responsible for obtaining the permit.
He stated the property owner is ultimately responsible for their property, so it
was their responsibility to make sure their contractor followed through with
what they agreed to do in their contract.

Mr. Roach asked if staff would be fine if there was a permit and the fence was
moved 20 feet back from where it is currently located. Mr. Funk said yes.
Counsel Lounsbury questioned if he would be correct by saying it could
remain in its current location, but would need to be reduced to four feet in
height. Mr. Funk explained the two options are to move the six-foot fence 20
feet into the yard from the property line along Hanes Road or reduce the
height to four foot in the 20-foot section from the property line.

Mr. Roach asked if the applicant had discussed with staff the practical
difficulties of doing either of those things. Mr. Funk stated just what was
expressed in their justification. Mr. Roach questioned in staff’s opinion this
would be easy to remedy. Mr. Funk said yes. Mr. Roach asked if staff expected
them to take it down from where it was, put in some new posts, and move
everything back. Mr. Funk stated that was correct. Counsel Lounsbury
explained the practical difficulties requirement was not to be considered after
they have already violated the Code. Mr. Roach said he was not confusing the
standard, and wanted to make sure he understood what staff’s conclusion
was based off. Mr. Funk explained staff’s conclusion was it could be easily
accomplished. Mr. Roach said when the applicant made the claim, they cannot
really do that because they are going to disturb the trees and they are going
to be constructing a pool there, and questioned if staff through there was
going to be an issue with the trees. Mr. Funk did not see how those trees
would be too negatively impacted because it looked like to staff the fence
could be located behind the smaller shed but still in front of the trees. He said
there is plenty of opportunity for a pool to be constructed in the yard, but the
impact of the trees to the pool he could not answer.

Mr. Roach questioned how the trees would be damaged or harmed if the
fence was moved back. Andrew Moeggenburg, sworn in, stated there are nine

4



BEAVERCREEK BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, 11/12/25

trees in that portion of the yard and eight of them are pine trees. He said the
pine tree branches go all the way to the ground so the branches would have
to be trimmed to the trunk. He stated there was another tree that was about
20.5 feet from the fence, and he was concerned it was going to have to be cut
down completely to comply with moving the fence 20 feet back. Mr.
Moeggenburg stated they cannot cut the fence down to four foot because
they want the pool, so the only option is to move it back.

Mr. Roach questioned how long the trees had been there. Mr. Moeggenburg
said he had seen an aerial and knew they had been there as long as 2003. Mr.
Roach explained variances are not about gifting them out to nice people, but
it was about establishing continuity so people are getting the same answers
to the same questions. He said the City doesn’t want high fences in the wrong
spots, and they want the rules to be enforced uniformly for everyone. Mr.
Roach stated they have had other applicants that have gone through this
process and have been denied the same relief. He said yet the applicant felt
they were entitled to the variance, and questioned how they address that
concern to staff. Mr. Moeggenburg explained the trees are the biggest
concern, and they could cut the fence to four foot, but they want a pool, and
he felt like they should be allowed to have one if they want one. He stated one
of the trees would have to come down to comply with the 20 foot setback.
Mr. Roach said the applicant alluded to some road widening in the area, and
guestioned if he knew how much of the right-of-way would be affected. Mr.
Moeggenburg said no, but the measurement was 32 feet.

Mr. Rader MOVED to deny V-25-4 based on not meeting the criteria in
Chapter 158.172(H)(5)(a), seconded by Ms. Barhorst. Motion PASSED by a roll
call vote of 4-1. (Roach)

ADJOURNMENT
Mr. Roach MOVED adjournment at 6:50 p.m., seconded by Ms. Barhorst.
Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Melissa Gillaugh
Deputy Clerk
























































